FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/11/2019

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATESUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

WASHINGTON

97637-6

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

Respondent,

v.

ARELY JIMENEZ

Appellant

COURT OF APPEALS DIVI

ON APPEAL FROM APPEALS COURT DIVISION I Number 79690-9-1

Appellant's request for review

Arely Jimenez, LMFT, Pro-se 981 Diane Avenue Oak Harbor, WA. 98277 360-421-9715 STATEMENT OF CASE

This case was heard on July 30th, 2019, in the Appeals Court Division I,

the Court's decision was mailed to Appellant on August 6, 2019 and was received

by Appellant on August 10, 2019.

Appellant is requesting a review of her case because the Appeals Court

was unable to address some issues; they stated as their reason for not

addressing those points, that the Department of Health did not have an

opportunity to respond? Or the case was not properly before the court.

Appellant is offering the Appeals Court Unpublished Opinion as a

point of reference. It is requested that Appellant's Opening brief and Reply brief

accompany this request as well as all of Appellant's records.

Evidence: Division I, Unpublished Opinion, Filed August 5, 2019

i

Arely Jimenez, Request for Review

Table of Authorities

United States ex rel Skladzien v. Warden of Eastern State Per	ıitentiary 45 G
2d 204 (RD.Pa 1930)	P-3
Board of Immigration Appeals (BIA)	P-3
Faghih v. Dental Quality Assur.COMM, 148 Wn. App. 836,8	842,202, P.3d
731.	P-4
Crosswhite v. Dept. Dept. of Soc. & Health Srvs. 197 Wn. App	o 539,548,389
P.3d 731	P-4

Sixth Amendment, Art. I, Sec. 22

Attached is also the Court's \$200.00 filing fee

This is a request for a review of the Appeals Court D-I decision to affirm Respondent's charges. The Appeals Court, on Page 2 of the UNPUBLISHED OPINION (UO), last paragraph, cites the incident with the two investigators, Mitchell Anderson and Kathleen Mills. The Appeals Court, with their written opinion continues to perpetuate the same lie told by Kathleen Mills. Appellant never represented herself as a Naturopath to anyone including the two investigators. Since the same lie continues to be invoked, there is no room for the truth.

Appellant has stated in writing and verbally, that her degree and license as and MFT allows her to treat PTSD; as a point of fact, it is one of her areas of expertise; however, Appellant did NOT offer to treat their fictitious son. The investigators spoke to Johnson who <u>did</u> volunteer to treat their fictitious son. The investigators spoke to Johnson for a long time and came back to the office to speak with him for a second time. Does the Appeals court prefer to believe the investigators claim and not be bother with the facts?

Appellant's Appeal, in terms of RCW 18.130.180 is that: cases where RCW 18.130.180 has been used are all criminal matters. *The Board of Immigration Appeals (BIA)* states that "moral turpitude is a "Nebulous concept" One that shocks the public conscious as being inherently base, vile or depraved, contrary to the rules of morality. It is the INTENT, the BIA holds, *EVIL INTENT IS A REQUISETE ELEMENT WHEN USING MORAL TURPITUDE*. In affirming DOH's decision to label Appellant as someone with "moral turpitude" issues, the Court

is stating that this definition accurately describes Appellant's conduct. There hasn't been any proof, beyond reasonable doubt that backs up the DOH or the Appeals court conclusion. It is for this reason that Appellant seeks a review of the Supreme Court.

The United States ex rel. <u>Skladzien v Warden of Eastern State Penitentiary</u> <u>45 F 2d 204 (RD.Pa. 1930)</u> states: "Thus we have acknowledged that the violation of status which merely license or regulate and impose criminal liability without regard to evil intent do not involve moral turpitude. The Appeal Court, UO DOCUMENT, adds in their conclusions that the Department of health did not act capriciously or arbitrary (UO. p.3). With all due respect, when the DOH has many options to choose and selects the most damming adjective to describe a conduct in which Appellant engaged, without any consideration to circumstances, motives/intent, and where the department <u>chose</u> not to charge Johnson, a convicted felon, with "moral turpitude", it gives the appearance of being, not only capricious but racist and misogynist. When an entity has many choices and selects the worst possible alternative, as stated by the Superior Court (UO, p5, last paragraph) that behavior is arbitrary.

The Appeals Court uses these two cases: Faghih v. Dental Quality Assur. COMM, 148 Wn. A pp.836,842,202 P.3d 962 (2009) and Crosswhite v, Dept. of Soc. & Health Servs. 197 Wn. App. 539, 548,389 P.3d 731. Even though these are not "criminal cases" they do involve physical harm to their victims. The Crosswhite case appears to be a physical attack on the victim, where police

placed in custody the supposed perpetrator. Is the relevancy of these two cases to Appellant's case, the fact that the Courts did not believed the accused? and were unwilling or unable to be bothered with the facts? Clearly Appellant is not trying to absolve or in any way be condemnatory of the defendants in this case or any other case; Appellant only wants to reiterate the validity of her claim.

What is salient in the two cases cited by the Appeals Court, without taking into account the veracity of the witnesses or the accused, is that: there was physical harm done to the victims and that the Court was unwilling to take the later testimony of the boyfriend in the case of Crosswhite. Not sure if the Court's cites these cases to make the point that the Court, regardless of the facts, like in the above example or any other, adhere to their own code that is, the Court will not change their mind? Is the comparison to Appellant's case that those people were convicted of RCW 18.130.180? Again, those accused were charged with perpetrating physical harm to their victims and further alleged that it was the perpetrators "intent." Does the Court cite Crosswhite 197. Wn.App at 548 to make the point that: "Finding of fact from the agency's final order are reviewed under the substantial evidence test and will be upheld if supported by a sufficient quantity of evidence to persuade a fair-minded person of the order's truth or correctness."?

The administrative court subpoena five witnesses who were compelled to testify for DOH, 5(five). Their testimony was not taken into consideration by the Administrative court or the Appeal Court which states that they looked at the

administrative record(?). It is unheard of that a court brings their witnesses and then states: "we do not weigh the credibility of witnesses or substitute our judgement for the agency's findings of fact." (p6 D1 UO). What happened to the "fair minded person" argument that the court quoted? (p4, DI, UO). What are witnesses for?

Appellant provided business cards that stated that she practiced Nedicine, the advertisement said, Nedicine, in the "license" that was conspicuously displayed, in the main hallway of the office, it was written: Nedicine, the application sent via facsimile to Premera said Nedicine. When Appellant first communicated with Premera, the man who answered the call at Premera, asked what was Nedicine, then a woman, the one who eventually changed the content of the request, got on the phone. She was extremely harsh and spoke very disrespectfully to Appellant. When asked to speak to her superior she was somewhat nervous as she accused Appellant of lying about her MFT License and that was her motivation for changing the memorandum. The courts, however, decided that the e-mailed she wrote, is a substantial evidence (UO,p5 p2). The court's foundational premise is that Appellant is a liar and everything else about her life has been discounted.

The Appeals court accuses Appellant of practicing medicine (p4) but Nedicine is all about health. Drugs, which is the main definition of medicine has never been a part of Appellant and is not a part of Nedicine. In the original request for review, Appellant points out that DOH never did, beyond a reasonable

doubt, proved that Appellant practiced medicine. The Appeals Court is now again accusing Appellant of practicing medicine, (UO, p7,par. 1) but the Appeals Court (D-I) did not define the kind of medicine Appellant practice. This charge has never been proven "beyond a reasonable doubt". How then can the Court use it against Appellant? What was the medicine that she practiced?

The Court asserted that Appellant argued "that none of her former clients testified that she held herself out as a naturopath or a doctor of medicine." (UO, p6, 1par). The Appeals Court as well as the Superior court had the Verbatim record with the witnesses' testimonies. These witnesses were people who went to the office where Nedicine was offered. The Appeals Court (UO, p5 2nd Par) miss-states the actions taken by Appellant when she closed her counseling practice. When Appellant closed her counseling practice, she did not wish to use the counseling clients to become clients at the Nedicine office. It was her desire to keep them completely separate. It worked out because originally, she was going to leave the country. DOH's assertion that Appellant is dishonest was never substantiated. The charge that Appellant "lower the standard of the marriage and family profession in the eyes of the public" was not substantiated with anything other than desire of the people who came up with that charge. The local newspaper asked for people to come out and testify for almost 9 months, and not one person came out. In the contrary Appellant had many expsychotherapy clients who wrote e-mails stating that they were willing to testify. The offers were not accepted mainly because of client's privacy and Appellant's quest to protect that privacy.

In terms of the fine, the superior court agreed that the fine given by DOH, "under the circumstances was on the high side". The Appeals court does not even concede that. Again if an entity has discretion in the amount of fine issued, as demonstrated in the case of Clarence Johnson, where the fine was stayed, giving Appellant a higher fine and demanding payment in full even before all proceedings are over, is arbitrary and capricious.

The Appeals court states (UO,p8, 4thpar) That the "actions of the Oak Harbor police, ... are not properly before the court." Perhaps is an issue that the Supreme Court can address. Appellant sustains that all the issues brought up to the Appeals Court have been brought up in earlier hearings, they have never been addressed.

The Appeals Court states that because the present proceedings are not criminal, Appellant is not eligible for protection under the "6th Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution," (UO, p8, last paragraph). That the fact that the hearing officer failed to issue Appellant subpoenas and excluded exhibits without being requested by the AAG and not having effective assistance of counsel were not violations of Appellant's rights (UO, p9,1st par). It is mind bugling how Appellant is eligible to be branded by DOH with a criminal statute RCW 18.130.180? But not eligible to be protected by the law?

The issue of DOH sending letters to insurance companies was brought up by Atty. Tarutis early in the process but nothing was done. DOH notified insurance companies of Appellant's charges when the legal process had just begun. The Department has copies of the letters given by the insurance companies to Appellant. This was not the first time that this issue was brought up by Appellant. This is a violation of Appellant's rights. The move to notify the Insurance Companies was calculated by DOH to bring monetary damage to Appellant, and it did.

Appellant seeks a review because her basic human rights are being violated many times over. Since the Appeals court is not addressing the violations listed above; Appellant must appeal to the Supreme Court as the only entity that can remedy the issues that Appellant presented. For example, the issue of the fine needs to be address because the view of the Appeals Court is that "they reverse it only if the Department's decision to impose it was arbitrary and capricious. Again, according to the Superior Court, (VRP 1/26/18 at 22-23 lines 24-25, 1-2) when speaking of the fine said, "under all these circumstances it seemed high to me". If the court utter this statement, it means that the amount assessed was arbitrarily imposed.

The Court of Appeals states that Appellant "Falsely held herself out as a licensed naturopath." In order for the Appeals Court to make this claim they would have to have proved it beyond a reasonable doubt; and this has never been done. Is this an issue that the Supreme Court can address?

CONCLUSION

Appellant wants the court to know how sorry she is to have believed Hugh and Bonnie Johnson that the Nedicine license was a real license. One of the exhibits that has been excluded over and over, was a screen picture of the Federal website, PTSO, that states that the Nedicine license was a national license. Since Appellant read it, she believed that it was all good, she just accepted it. Words cannot express the sorrow that she experiences each day for making that mistake.

Appellant seeks a review of the issues as presented in her opening and reply briefs. Appellant respectfully requests that the Supreme Court of the State of Washington reviews all the above stated concerns. Since DOH was pivotal in Appellant's economic ruin, the harm caused shall suffice as the payment of their fine. Appellant did contact DOH to request a payment plan but DOH has turn the fine to a collection agency who in turn will charge for the services of collecting the money. DOH stated that they cannot wait until this matter is resolved to get their money But they were the ones in a hurry to have Appellant unemployed.

Appellant hired attorneys to deal with DOH unfortunately the attorneys were not versed on administrative matters and the attorney who did the trial was not even capable of defending Appellant's right to have all her exhibits entered in the record. Appellant is also not doing a great job in representing herself, she is definitely not an attorney. As stated above, the Appeals Court states that it cannot do anything. The Appeals Court even found that Appellant does not have

any protections under the law. The Appeals court states that "both the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 apply to only criminal prosecutions" (UO p 9 1st par). Is the Appeals Court asserting that all human rights can be violated in administrative proceedings? Again, can a code that describes a criminal behavior be used for an administrative proceeding while taking away the rights of the accused?

Appellant is surprised to read that the court does not find the fact that Appellant was arrested without being convicted first, offensive, but their reaction must be a sign of the times that we are living in. Appellant worked for the Department of Corrections for 14 (fourteen) years so she understands that respecting human rights is important.

The main idea that Appellant wants to convey when pointing out the Superior Court's mistake in the number of cases that Appellant saw, is that everyone makes mistakes. Appellant is also human and makes mistakes. The astonishing part is that the penal system makes room only for mistakes committed by people in their system; NOT for those accused by that system.

Appellant appreciates the Supreme Court reviewing this case.

Appellant is most grateful for the opportunity to address this court and to have her grievances address.

Submitted this 3rd day of September 2019