FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/24/2019 10:47 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97637-6

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### ARELY JIMENEZ,

Petitioner,

v.

### WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH,

Respondent.

### DEPARTMENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

HEATHER CARTER Assistant Attorney General WSBA #30477 7141 Cleanwater Dr SW PO Box 40109 Olympia, WA 98504-0109 360-586-6474 OID #91030

## **

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

In her petition for discretionary review, Jimenez does not argue that her case meets any of the criteria established in RAP 13.4(b). Instead, she repeats the same arguments that failed in the Superior Court and Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the Final Order under the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), RCW 34.05. Review by this Court is unwarranted and should be denied.

### II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Was the Department's finding of fact that Jimenez represented herself as a licensed naturopath supported by substantial evidence?
- 2. Did Jimenez's conduct of diagnosing, advising, and prescribing remedies for her patients' medical conditions constitute the practice of medicine?
- 3. Did Jimenez's conduct of practicing medicine without a license and representing herself as a naturopath constitute moral turpitude or dishonesty under RCW 18.130.180(1)?
- 4. Was the monetary fine imposed by the Final Order arbitrary and capricious?

#### III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Department is the state agency that licenses and regulates health care professionals in Washington State. The goal of regulating health professionals is to protect the public from unqualified providers and professional misconduct. RCW 18.130.010.

Jimenez holds a Washington State Marriage and Family Therapy (LMFT) License, which has been active since 2007. Administrative Record (AR) 852, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Final Order (FFCL) 2.1. The FFCL is attached as Appendix A. She holds no other health care credential in Washington. *Id*.

In 2014, Jimenez completed online coursework from the American School of Nedicine, an unaccredited school. AR 856, FFCL 2.7. The founder of the school received a certification trademark of "Doctor of

Nedicine" from the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office in 2013, and created the American Nedicine Licensing Board, Inc. AR 720, FFCL 2.5, 2.6. In July 2014, Jimenez received a "license" to use the "Doctor of Nedicine" certification trademark from the American Nedicine Licensing Board, Inc. AR 749, FFCL 2.7. The Department does not recognize this school, trademark, or license to use the trademark, nor is there evidence it is recognized in any state. FFCL 2.4, 2.5, AR 701, 702.

December 2014, In Jimenez and another individual, Clarence Hugh Jonson, opened a clinic in Oak Harbor, Washington. FFCL 2.8. Through newspaper articles and a website, Jimenez and Jonson held themselves out as board certified in naturopathy and as being able to treat patients for conditions such as diabetes, arthritis, fibromyalgia, hypertension, hepatitis, and more. AR at 750-52, 756-57, FFCL 2.9. Jimenez was not licensed as a naturopathic physician in Washington. AR 852. Jimenez provided treatment to at least five patients and provided intake forms to the patients that indicated she was a naturopathic physician. AR at 765-830, FFCL 2.10. Jimenez described her evaluation and treatment process as using a computer to take energy readings of patients, informing the patient of their condition, and recommending treatment with diet changes, herbs, or infoceuticals. AR 853-857, 868-869, FFCL 2.10. Jimenez sells the patients infoceuticals ("mineral water injected with information")

to treat energy blockages. AR 854, FFCL 2.9, 2.10. She evaluated and diagnosed the patients and treated them for conditions such as high blood pressure, smoking cessation, thyroid issues, insomnia, back pain, and tremors. AR 765-830, FFCL 2.10.

In 2015, the Department issued a Notice of Intent to Issue Cease and Desist Order and Statement of Charges against Jimenez alleging she was practicing medicine and naturopathy without a license and that the conduct violated RCW 18.130.180(1), the prohibition against moral turpitude and dishonesty. Jimenez timely requested an adjudicative proceeding, and an administrative hearing was held before a Health Law Judge. On November 4, 2016, in an Initial Order, the Health Law Judge found that Jimenez represented herself as a licensed naturopath and had practiced medicine and naturopathy without a license in violation of RCW 18.71.021, RCW 18.36A.030, and RCW 18.130.020, and, further, that this unlicensed practice constituted unprofessional conduct against her LMFT license under RCW 18.130.180(1). AR 591-615.

Jimenez timely requested administrative review of the Initial Order. AR 619-23. On January 9, 2017, after considering all of the testimony and other evidence, and evaluating the credibility of each witness, the Department issued its Final Order that found that Jimenez was engaged in the practice of medicine and naturopathy. AR 690-718. The Final Order

directed Jimenez to permanently cease and desist the unlicensed practice of medicine and naturopathy, pay a fine of \$5,000, complete three hours of continuing education in law and ethics, and receive a reprimand on her LMFT license. In addition, the Final Order put her LMFT license on probation until its requirements were completed. AR 690-718.

Jimenez sought judicial review in the Superior Court, which affirmed the Department's Final Order. Jimenez appealed, and the Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished opinion. Appendix B. Jimenez now seeks discretionary review by this Court.

### IV. REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

Under RAP 13.4, this Court will accept a petition for discretionary review only if one of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b) is met. Jimenez provides no analysis of how the issues raised in her petition satisfy any of the requirements of RAP 13.4(b) and offers no persuasive argument or legal authority justifying review by this Court. Her petition should be denied.

# A. There is Substantial Evidence that Jimenez Represented Herself as a Licensed Naturopath

The record contains substantial evidence that Jimenez represented herself as a naturopath without a license to do so. RCW 18.36A.030 prohibits a person from practicing as a naturopath or representing herself as a naturopath without a license. It provides:

- (1) No person may practice naturopathy or represent himself or herself as a naturopath without first applying for and receiving a license from the secretary to practice naturopathy.
- (2) A person represents himself or herself as a naturopath when that person adopts or uses any title or any description of services that incorporates one or more of the following terms or designations: Naturopath, naturopathy, naturopathic, naturopathic physician, ND, or doctor of naturopathic medicine.

RCW 18.36A.030. Violation of this statute is the unlicensed practice of naturopathy. The Secretary of Health is responsible for bringing actions against individuals practicing a health care profession without a license. RCW 18.130.190.

Jimenez argues that there is not substantial evidence to support the finding in the Final Order that she represented herself as a naturopath. Under the "substantial evidence" standard, an agency finding of fact will be upheld if supported by "evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court . . . " RCW 34.05.570(3)(e). "Substantial evidence," as used in RCW 34.05.570(3)(e), has been defined as evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the declared premise. *See, e.g., Heinmiller v. Dep't of Health*, 127 Wn.2d 595, 903 P.2d 433 (1995); *In re Elec. Lightwave, Inc.*, 123 Wn.2d 530, 869 P.2d 1045 (1994).

Evidence in the record establishes that Jimenez advertised in the newspaper and on a website that she was a naturopathic physician (AR at 750-752 and 756-757), gave patients intake forms stating she was a naturopathic physician (AR at 765-830), used business cards with the initials "N.D." after her name (AR 754), and attempted to get Premera Blue Cross to accept her as a naturopathic physician for insurance reimbursement by stating that she was a licensed naturopath. (AR at 748).

In addition to the substantial documentary evidence, the Department's investigators testified that she held herself out to them as a licensed naturopath. AR 898, 915. Jimenez continues to argue that the Department's investigators lied about her statements to them and altered the Premera Blue Cross email. The Presiding Officer believed the Department's investigators and found their testimony to be credible. AR 707. Credibility determinations are not reversed on appeal because the Presiding Officer is in the best position to judge credibility. *Neravetla v. Dep't of Health*, 198 Wn. App. 647, 669, 394 P.3d 1028, *review denied sub nom. Neravetla v. State Health Med. Quality Assurance Co.*, 189 Wn.2d 1010 (2017). The court will accept the factfinder's determinations of witness credibility and, ordinarily, the weight to be given to reasonable but competing inferences. *Id.* 

Jimenez further argues that none of her former patients testified that she held herself out as a naturopath and this somehow shows the Department's investigators must be lying. Pet. at 6. The Court of Appeals, on review of the record stated, "given Jimenez's email to Premera Blue Cross and the testimony by Anderson and Mills that Jimenez held herself out as a naturopathic doctor to them, there is substantial evidence that she held herself out as a naturopathic doctor despite the absence of testimony from her other clients." Slip Op. at 6. Jimenez's arguments otherwise are without merit and this Court should not accept review.

# B. Jimenez Practiced Medicine Without a License by Diagnosing, Advising, and Prescribing Remedies for Her Patient's Medical Conditions

Jimenez diagnosed, treated, and prescribed remedies for patients with a variety of conditions. Jimenez argues that her conduct was not the practice of medicine, but was instead the practice of "nedicine." She further argues that because she did not prescribe drugs, her conduct did not fit into the definition of the practice of medicine. Pet. at 5, 6. The arguments fail.

In Washington, the practice of medicine is defined in statute:

A person is practicing medicine if he or she does one or more of the following:

(1) Offers or undertakes to diagnose, cure, advise, or prescribe for any human disease, ailment, injury, infirmity, deformity, pain or other condition, physical or mental, real or imaginary, by any means or instrumentality;

- (2) Administers or prescribes drugs or medicinal preparations to be used by any other person;
- (3) Severs or penetrates the tissues of human beings;

. . . .

RCW 18.71.011. Jimenez focuses on subsection (2) of the statute regarding whether she prescribed drugs. She disregards the other sections. Specifically, she does not address the first element of the practice of medicine, "offers or undertakes to diagnose, cure, advise or prescribe for any human disease . . . ." RCW 18.71.011(1).

Regardless of what Jimenez chooses to call it, the evidence in the record clearly demonstrates that Jimenez diagnosed, treated, and prescribed remedies for her patients. She treated them for high blood pressure, thyroid conditions, Parkinson's disease, celiac disease, and other ailments. FFCL 3.9, AR 711. The evidence is clear in the patient records of five patients she treated (AR at 758-830) and the testimony of patients D, E, F, and G at the hearing (AR at 924-958). The practice of medicine is defined by *conduct and acts*, not the labels used to describe it. "Whether actions constitute the practice of medicine is dependent upon the facts and not upon the name of the procedure, its origins, or legislative lack of clairvoyance." *State v. Pac. Health Ctr., Inc.*, 135 Wn. App. 149, 166, 143 P.3d 618 (2006), (citing *People v. Amber*, 76 Misc.2d 267, 273, 349 N.Y.S.2d 604 (1973)).

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the Department's finding that Jimenez practiced medicine was supported by the substantial evidence of each patient record and testimony of four patients. Slip Op at 7. Jimenez's argument that she did not practice medicine continues to be without merit and need not be reviewed by this Court.

# C. Jimenez Committed Unprofessional Conduct Based on Acts of Moral Turpitude and Dishonesty

Representing oneself as a naturopathic physician and practicing medicine without the necessary license is dishonest. A health care provider commits unprofessional conduct through the "commission of any act involving moral turpitude, dishonesty, or corruption relating to the practice of the person's profession, whether the act constitutes a crime or not." RCW 18.130.180(1).

Washington courts have interpreted how acts of moral turpitude and dishonesty are defined in the context of the UDA. Moral turpitude is:

[C]onduct that may indicate unfitness to practice the profession either by raising concerns that the individual may use the professional position to harm members of the public, or by tending to lower the standing of the profession in the public's eyes, thereby affecting the quality of public health which is a legitimate public concern.

Haley v. Med. Disciplinary Bd., 117 Wn.2d 720, 738, 818 P.2d 1062 (1991). The Presiding Officer found that Jimenez's conduct was dishonest. The

reasoning and consideration of the facts are well stated and outlined in the Final Order:

Here, Respondent's conduct in falsely holding herself out as a licensed naturopath was an act of dishonesty. Her practice of medicine without a license raises concerns that she may use her professional position to harm members of the public (in this case, her clients and patients). Respondent's conduct also tends to lower the standing of the marriage and family therapy profession in the eyes of the public. Therefore, Respondent's conduct meets the definition of moral turpitude.

#### FFCL 3.15.

Jimenez argues in two ways that she should not be found to have committed unprofessional conduct based on acts of moral turpitude and dishonesty. Pet. at 3, 6. First, Jimenez claims that her good intent and lack of actual patient harm mean she did not commit any act of moral turpitude or dishonesty. However, the definition of moral turpitude provided in *Haley* focuses on conduct rather than intent. Jimenez's conduct in practicing medicine without a license and falsely representing herself as a naturopathic physician are dishonest and misleading. Her misrepresentations, untruthful advertising, disregard for the health and safety of the public, and knowingly practicing beyond the scope of her LMFT license, raise concerns that she may use her position to harm members of the public. Her conduct also tends to lower the standing of the LMFT profession in the public's eyes.

Second, Jimenez claims the conclusion that she committed unprofessional conduct was arbitrary and capricious because it was not supported by substantial evidence. This claim is also without merit. To support an argument that the Department's conclusion was arbitrary and capricious, Jimenez must show that the Department took "willful and unreasoning action, without consideration and in disregard of facts and circumstances." Heinmiller v. Dep't of Health, 127 Wn.2d 595, 609, 903 P.2d 433 (1995). She cannot show this. Contrary to her argument, the conclusion was based on substantial evidence that Jimenez practiced medicine without a license and represented herself as a naturopath to the public and patients as discussed above. The conclusion that Jimenez committed unprofessional conduct was not arbitrary and capricious. The Court of Appeals agreed, holding that there was substantial evidence that Jimenez falsely held herself out as a naturopath. Slip Op. at 5. It further held her conduct in this regard was dishonest and constituted unprofessional conduct under RCW 18.130.180(1), and the Department's finding in this regard was not arbitrary and capricious. *Id.* Review of Jimenez's arguments is unwarranted.

# D. The Fine Imposed Was Authorized by Statute and Was Not Arbitrary and Capricious

The sanctions imposed against Jimenez were clearly authorized by statute and lower than the maximum allowed. Jimenez argues that the fine she was ordered to pay was too high and therefore arbitrary and capricious. However, under the statute regulating unlicensed practice of health care professions, the Secretary can issue cease and desist orders and order civil fines in the amount of \$1,000 per day of violation. RCW 18.130.190(3). In this action, Jimenez was ordered to cease and desist and pay a fine of \$5,000. This amount was based on the number of patients she treated. Her medical treatment of these five patients was supported by substantial evidence including patient records and testimony. However, this was not the maximum fine authorized by law. In this case, the fine could have been as high as \$8,000 since there is evidence in the record that she treated patients on eight different days. FFCL 2.10, 2.11, AR 704-707. The Court of Appeals upheld the fine, stating, "because the fine was authorized by statute and did not exceed the amount delimited by statute, we cannot hold that it was arbitrary and capricious." Slip Op. at 7. Again, Jimenez's arguments do not warrant review by this Court.

### E. There is no Basis for Review Under RAP 13.4(b)

Finally, out of an abundance of caution and because Jimenez fails to identify any basis for review as required under RAP 13.4(b), the Department will briefly address each of the criteria.

# 1. This unpublished case does not conflict with existing Washington case law

Jimenez fails to identify any Supreme Court or published appellate case with which the decision in this case conflicts. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). The Department is not aware of any conflicting cases.

# 2. This case does not implicate any significant constitutional questions

Jimenez attempts to raise several constitutional issues, all of which were raised before the Court of Appeals and dismissed as without merit.

Many of Jimenez's constitutional arguments relate to criminal proceedings. This case involves an administrative proceeding and not a criminal case. First, several times in her petition she argues that the allegations against her were not proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Pet. at 6, 8. The burden of proof of beyond a reasonable doubt applies to criminal proceedings. The standard of proof applied in an unlicensed practice action is preponderance of the evidence. WAC 246-10-606(3). In addition, Jimenez raises this argument for the first time in her petition before this Court and it should not be considered. RAP 2.5.

Second, Jimenez claims constitutional violations in her arrest by the police. Pet. at 7, 10. These claims are criminal issues not before this Court on judicial review of the administrative record. Jimenez was arrested by the

City of Oak Harbor Police, not the Department. Any challenges to the arrest must be brought against the City of Oak Harbor.

Third, Jimenez claims the Department violated her Fourteenth Amendment due process rights under the Sixth Amendment because she was denied the right to present her defense to the case. Jimenez claims that her rights to due process were violated because the Health Law Judge did not issue subpoenas for her witnesses. Pet. at 7. The record does not support this argument.

Jimenez was pro se when she requested issuance of five subpoenas on February 26, 2016, for a hearing set in March of 2016. AR 327. On March 14, 2016, she retained new counsel. AR 373. Amended charges were later filed and the hearing was continued to October 2016. AR 330-365. Her attorney was authorized to issue subpoenas and had ample time to serve them for the October hearing. Under the applicable procedural rules, the presiding officer does not issue subpoenas for parties represented by counsel. WAC 246-10-123. Her claims that she was denied due process are without merit.

Fourth, Jimenez claims additional violations of the Sixth Amendment by claiming that her attorney was ineffective. Pet. at 7, 9, 10. The constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel applies only to matters where a defendant has a right to counsel in criminal cases.

U.S. Const. amend. VI and XIV. As the Court of Appeals held, "both the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 apply to only criminal prosecutions and Jimenez's probation and fine is a civil penalty, not a criminal punishment." Slip Op. at 9 (citing *Chmela v. Dept. of Motor Vehicles*, 88 Wn.2d 385, 392, 561 P.2d 1085 (1977)). Because she is not entitled to these constitutional protections in a civil case, Jimenez's rights were not violated.

Finally, Jimenez claims her "rights" were violated because the Department sent letters to insurance companies informing them of the disciplinary action. Pet. at 8. As the Court of Appeals held, Jimenez first raised this argument in her reply brief and it declined to consider them. RAP 10.3(c). Slip Op. at 10. There is also no evidence in the record that such letters exist. This claim is without merit.

All of these constitutional arguments are without merit and do not constitute significant constitutional issues that warrant review by this Court.

# 3. This case is a typical judicial review under the APA and does not involve an issue of substantial public interest

This case does not involve an issue of substantial public interest, as the principal issues before the Court of Appeals were specific to the facts of this case—i.e., whether there was substantial evidence to support the findings. RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Court of Appeals' affirmation of the

Jimenez to comply with the laws governing the licensing and discipline of health care professionals in Washington. The case is an unremarkable

Department's Final Order breaks no legal ground and merely requires

judicial review of an administrative order under the Administrative

Procedure Act. It does not warrant review under RAP 13.4(b).

V. CONCLUSION

The Final Order in this case is supported by substantial evidence in

the record and was not arbitrary and capricious. The Superior Court and

Court of Appeals affirmed it. Jimenez has not demonstrated any basis for

this Court's review. Her petition should be denied.